

Montclair State University Montclair State University Digital Commons

Theses, Dissertations and Culminating Projects

5-2022

Turning Tadpoles: Effects of Salinity and Lateralization on Hyla versicolor Escape Behaviors

Victor LoPiccolo

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.montclair.edu/etd

Part of the Biology Commons

Abstract

Road salt, which is used as a roadway deicer in the winter time, is a major contributor to the salinization of freshwater habitats. Amphibians are particularly vulnerable to the salinization of aquatic environments due to the reliance of many species on pond, lake, and stream habitat in their aquatic larval stage. This study examined how Northern Gray Treefrog (Hyla versicolor) tadpole behavior is affected by salinity in a multiple t-maze. Alternate turning is sequential turning in opposite directions. Alternating turns lead the animal further from the starting point, and are innate behaviors associated with foraging, exploration, and escape. A multiple t-maze is a complex maze environment where an individual can make zero to three alternating turns. At elevated salinity *H. versicolor* displayed more alternating turn behavior than expected if turns were made randomly. However, there were no differences among salinity levels in alternating turn frequency, which suggests that tadpoles will continue to move directionally straight regardless of salt concentration. At elevated salinities, tadpoles were more likely to complete the maze within five minutes, spent less time completing the maze, and were more likely to make 180° turns (u-turns). Prior salt exposure from earlier pilot studies significantly reduced the frequency of alternating turns and reduced the rate of maze completion. Further studies are warranted to determine how brief prior exposure affected turning behavior. In a t-maze binary turning bias test, tadpoles exhibited a trend of lateralized turning bias that was also evident in the multiple t-maze trials. These effects could have implications for how H. versicolor tadpoles forage, explore and evade predators in their natural habitat. This protocol for exploring escape behaviors in a multiple t-maze can be applicable for studies of other amphibian species or to determine the effects of other chemical stimuli such as predator cues and pesticides on behavior.

Keywords: road salt, alternating turns, tadpoles, multiple t-maze, lateralization

MONTCLAIR STATE UNIVERSITY

Turning Tadpoles: Effects of Salinity and Lateralization on Hyla versicolor Escape Behaviors

by

Victor LoPiccolo

A Master's Thesis Submitted to the Faculty of

Montclair State University

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

For the Degree of

Master of Science

May 2022

College of Science and Mathematics

Department of Biology

Thesis Committee:

Dr. Lisa Hazard

Thesis Sponsor

Dr. Scott Kight

Committee Member

Dr. Matthew Schuler

Committee Member

2

TURNING TADPOLES: EFFECTS OF SALINITY AND LATERALIZATION ON *HYLA VERSICOLOR* ESCAPE BEHAVIORS

A THESIS

Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements

For the degree of Master of Science

Victor LoPiccolo

Montclair State University

Montclair, NJ

2022

Copyright@2022 by Victor LoPiccolo. All rights reserved.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my thesis advisor, Dr. Lisa Hazard, for her mentorship and guidance. Dr. Hazard was willing to take on this project even as most courses at Montclair State were still virtual due to COVID-19 safety protocols. She has been extremely generous with her time from the initial development to the troubleshooting during the experimental trials and analysis. Additionally, I would like to thank my thesis committee, Dr. Scott Kight and Dr. Matthew Schuler, for their support. I truly appreciate the advice and counsel that was offered to me.

Contents

Introduction	10
Overview of the Problem	10
Salinization and Amphibians	11
Amphibian Behavior	12
Alternating Turns	12
Lateralized Turning Behavior	13
T-Mazes, Multiple T-Mazes and Alternating Turns	14
Hyla versicolor	16
Purpose of the Study	18
Methods	20
Field Collection and Care	20
T-Maze Trials	21
Multiple T-Maze Design and Development	21
Maze Types and Orientations	23
Multiple T-Maze Trials	24
Data Collection	25
Statistical Analysis	26
Multiple T-Maze Behavior Analysis	27
Maze Completion	27
Alternating Turns	27
Expectations	28
Maze Time, Latency Time, and Total Time	28
Pilot Studies and Prior Salt Exposure	29
Results	30
Lateralized Turning Behavior in a T-Maze	30
Body Size	30
Multiple T-Maze Maze Completion	31
U-Turns in a Multiple T-Maze	33
Alternating Turn Behavior in a Multiple T-Maze	35
Salinity and Alternating Turn Behavior	37
Other Alternating Turn Behaviors	39
Latency Time	42
Latency Time and Lateralization	44
Maze Time	45
Total Time	46

Discussion	48
Lateralization	48
Alternating Turn Behavior	49
Salinity	50
Prior Salt Exposure	51
Body Size	52
Experimental Design	53
Multiple T-Maze	54
Conclusion	55
References	56

List of Tables

Table 1. Nominal Logistic Fit Regression Model of Maze Completion	32
Table 2. Standard Least Squares Fit Regression Model of U-Turns	35
Table 3. Chi-Squared Analysis of Alternating Turn Distributions	36
Table 4. Ordinal Logistic Fit Regression Model of Alternating Turns	38
Table 5. Nominal Logistic Fit Regression Model of First Turn Alternation	40
Table 6. Nominal Logistic Fit Regression Model of Any Two Turn Alternations	41
Table 7. Nominal Logistic Fit Regression Model of First Two Turn Alternations in a Row	41
Table 8. Fit Least Squares Regression Model of Latency Time	42
Table 9. Fit Least Squares Regression Model of Maze Time	46
Table 10. Fit Least Squares Regression Model of Total Time	47
Table 11. Summary of Chi-Squared Analysis	49
Table 12. Summary of Regression Model Effects	51

List of Figures

Figure 1. T-Maze Design to Assess Turning Bias in Tadpoles	15
Figure 2. Multiple T-Maze Used to Assess Alternating Turn Behavior in Response to Sal	inity16
Figure 3. Tadpole Gosner Developmental Stages	20
Figure 4. Multiple T-Maze 3D Design	22
Figure 5. Forced Right and Left Turn Maze Types	23
Figure 6. Multiple T-Maze Trial Setup and Tools	25
Figure 7. Turn Alternation Data Determined From Trial Endpoints	26
Figure 8. Maze Completion Rates at Tested Salinities	32
Figure 9. Maze Completion Rates by Prior Salt Exposure	33
Figure 10. Mean U-Turns as Salinity Increases	
Figure 11. Observed vs Expected Frequency Distributions of Alternating Turns	36
Figure 12. Mean Alternating Turns by Prior Salt Exposure	39
Figure 13. Latency Time, Maze Time and Total Time by Salinity	43
Figure 14. Latency Time, Maze Time and Total Time by Body Size	44
Figure 15. Lateralized Turning Frequency in a T-Maze and Latency Time by Maze Type	45

Introduction

Overview of the Problem

Road salt, which is used as a roadway deicer in the winter time, is a major contributor to the salinization of freshwater habit. Salts carried by water runoff pollute waterways can temporarily spike salt concentrations. Road salt pollution threatens drinking water supply (Kelly et al., 2018; Parker and Tatum, 2021; Pieper et al., 2018; Soper et al., 2021) and represents a danger to freshwater aquatic life and ecological systems (Lawson and Jackson, 2021; Tiwari and Rachlin, 2018). Salinity can be toxic to organisms and can also have more subtle effects (Gibbons et al., 2018; Sanzo and Hecnar, 2006). Rising salt concentrations disrupt food-chains and lead to trophic cascades (Hintz et al., 2017). In animals, they can lead to changes in gene expression and alter anti-predator behavior (Gibbons et al., 2017; Hall et al., 2017). These consequences are being felt at the local, regional, and national levels in the United States (Corsi et al., 2010; Mazumder et al., 2021).

There has been a massive increase in the use of road salts since the middle of the 20th century (Corsi et al., 2010; Fay et al., 2013). A 2015 study conducted by the USGS found that the increased chloride concentrations found in streams directly correlated with the increased use of road salts over a two decades span, from 1990-2011 (Corsi et al., 2010). Long term trend projections predict steady salinization of freshwater lakes throughout the northeast and midwest North American lakes (Dugan et al., 2017). Upward trends in urbanization will only exacerbate current road salt usage concerns and runoff pollution of freshwater bodies (Mazumder et al., 2021).

10

Salinization and Amphibians

Among other factors, the salinization of freshwater habitat has led to declines of amphibian populations (Green et al., 2020). Amphibians are particularly vulnerable to changes in salinity of terrestrial and aquatic environments caused by road salt surface runoff. This point source pollution can cause brief but consequential moments of elevated salinity. Many species of amphibians have an aquatic larval stage and use vernal pools and other freshwater habitats to reproduce. (Semlitsch and Skelly, 2008). Amphibian susceptibility to salt pollution stems from permeable, unshelled aquatic eggs, larval gills, and porous skin. These morphological features, present at various stages of development, play key roles in their osmoregulation (Szeligowski et al., 2021).

Freshwater salinization leads to physiological consequences for amphibians,due to disruptions in osmoregulation (Collins and Russell, 2009; Jones et al., 2015). Elevated salt concentrations can be toxic to larval amphibians and lead to reduced survival (Hall et al., 2017; Jones et al., 2015; Tornabene et al., 2021a). Exposure to elevated salt concentrations can lead to adverse developmental effects including damaged gills and various deformities (Sanzo and Hecnar, 2006; Szeligowski et al., 2021; Tornabene et al., 2021a; Tornabene et al. 2021b). As a stressor, long term exposure to elevated salinity reduces locomotor performance and overall activity in amphibians. This has been directly linked impaired predator escape responses and anti parasite behavior (Denoël et al., 2010; Kearney et al., 2016; Milotic et al., 2017; Sanzo and Hecnar, 2006). Some amphibian species are more salt tolerant than others and physiological effects of salinity may vary greatly from species to species (Collins and Russell, 2009).

Oviposition habitat selection behavior is affected by the presence of low pH, high heavy metal concentrations and pesticides in pond habitats. Amphibians have demonstrated preference

for uncontaminated ponds for oviposition and there is reduced oviposition activity in contaminated ponds (Skelly, 2001; Takahashi, 2007; Vonesh and Buck, 2007). Oviposition habitat selection behavior can also be affected by salinity. Increased salinity may reduce oviposition activity (Haramura, 2008; Karraker et al., 2008; Wilder and Welch, 2014). Habitat selection behavior mitigates the impacts of pollutants and salinization. However, with continued habitat degradation and fragmentation, there are less overall breeding sites for amphibians (Hocking and Semlitsch, 2007). During their development, larval *H. versicolor* are isolated to freshwater bodies and vulnerable to changes within that habitat. Runoff pollution may contaminate this habitat after habitat selection behavior has already led to the same habitat being chosen as a breeding site.

Amphibian Behavior

Chemical stimuli such as salt and pesticides have been shown to alter amphibian behavior. Elevated salinity can affect frogs foraging and antipredator behavior (Hall et al., 2017). Salinity also reduces overall locomotor performance including most amphibian avoidance behavior (Denoël et al. 2010; Kearney et al. 2016). Pesticide exposure similarly affects amphibian behavior by reducing both avoidance behavior and overall locomotion in amphibians (Denoël et al., 2013; Leeb et al., 2020). Other stimuli such as predator cues can cause amphibian tadpoles to reduce their activity levels (Babbitt and Tanner, 1998; Lawler, 1989). Short term exposure to these chemical stimuli may also affect amphibian turning behavior.

Alternating Turns

Alternating turns or alternate turning is sequential turning in opposite directions (Dember and Richman, 1989). Alternating turn behaviors that allow individuals to efficiently move towards or away from stimuli are innate behaviors (Carbines et al., 1992; Hughes, 1967; Moriyama et al., 2015). In some instances, this has been described as a correcting behavior where individuals compensate for a prior turn in one direction by changing direction in a sequential turn (Carbines et al., 1992). This allows an animal to move directionally straight. Examples of animals that demonstrate this behavior are woodlice, *Porcellio scaber*; and pill bugs, *Belostoma flumineum*, They both make alternating turns in response to predator cues (Hughes, 1967, Paradis, 2020). Alternating turn behavior is also seen as advantageous for exploration and foraging. Rats, *Rattus norvegicus domestica*, have carried out alternating turns to explore a complex t-maze environment and in foraging behaviors in a plus-maze (Estes and Schoeffler, 1955).

Lateralized Turning Behavior

Lateralization or laterality is a result of lateralized differences in the brain hemispheres that lead to biases in behavior (Wiper, 2017). Lateralization may occur at the population level when biases become coordinated in a social group setting or just in single individuals (Bisazza et al., 2000; Frasnelli and Vallortigara, 2018). Laterality is common among both vertebrates and invertebrates (Walker, 1980). This includes amphibians (Malashichev and Robins, 2018; Malashichev and Wassersug, 2004; Rogers, 2002; Wassersug and Yamashita, 2002).

The asymmetrical emergence of forelimbs at metamorphosis often leads to forearm limb bias in adult amphibians (Malashichev, 2002; Malashichev, 2006; Malashichev and Nikitina, 2002; Robins et al., 1998). Hemispheric lateralization results in many other lateralized behaviors. The right hemisphere is associated with rapid responses including predator escape behaviors in anurans and vertebrates more broadly (Malashichev and Wassersug, 2004). Limb bias in adults

can be established by observing how anurans right themselves after being turned and when they use a limb to wipe something off of their snout (Malashichev, 2006; Malashichev and Nikitina, 2002). Multiple species of toads demonstrate lateralized jumping escape mechanisms in response to predators (Lippolis et al., 2002). In tadpoles, researchers have observed lateralized biases in startle responses (Malashichev and Robins, 2018).

There are factors that are known to affect lateralization in amphibians. Predation has been shown to impact behavioral asymmetries in wood frog, *Lithobates sylvaticus*, tadpoles. Tadpoles exposed prenatally to predator cues were more likely to develop more intense lateralization demonstrated by bias in swimming directional preference (Lucon-Xiccato et al., 2016). The pesticide, Roundup® Power 2.0, impacted lateralization in developmental marsh frog, *Pelophylax ridibundus*, tadpoles (Bolis et al., 2020). This exposure resulted in a lower intensity of lateralization demonstrated by less rotational preference in the tadpoles. Less is understood about how other noxious stimuli, including salinity, may affect lateralization in amphibians. While not involving amphibians, a study found that short-term exposure to elevated salinity caused the freshwater fish, Iberian barbels, *Luciobarbus bocagei*, to increase lateralization at higher salinity (Leite et al., 2019).

T-Mazes, Multiple T-Mazes and Alternating Turns

T-mazes force individuals to make a turn towards one of two alternate directions as opposed to continuing to travel in the same direction. They offer a binary choice and can be useful in determining turn preferences in individuals or populations (Figure 1; Wassersug and Yamashita, 2002). A multiple t-maze is a complex environment whereby an individual must make multiple consecutive turning decisions. The multiple t-maze allows for individuals to make

three decisions at t-junctions to turn left or right after beginning from the start in the center to completion at one of eight endpoints (Figure 2). An individual may start with a right turn and continue to turn right at each of the subsequent three t-junctions. That would result in an individual making zero alternating turns. If an individual makes an initial right turn but then turns left at the first t-junction that would represent one alternating turn. From the start of the maze to one of eight endpoints an individual could make zero, one, two, or three alternating turns.

Figure 1. T-Maze Design to Assess Turning Bias in Tadpoles



Note. Tadpoles begin where "start" is noted and must make either a left or right turn at the t-junction.



Figure 2. Multiple T-Maze Used to Assess Alternating Turn Behavior in Response to Salinity

Note. Multiple t-maze 3D model designed using TINKERCAD (© 2022 Autodesk, Inc.) from earlier multiple t-maze devices used by Hughes (1967) and Paradis (2020). The number of alternating turns completed to reach an endpoint is noted on the maze endpoints.

Earlier designs of multiple t-mazes fail to account for handedness biases (or turn preferences) that result from laterality (Hughes, 1967; Paradis, 2020). Original multiple t-maze designs force individuals to make an initial right turn (Figure 2). Depending on the lateralized turning preference of an individual, or more broadly, a population, this can impact subsequent turning behavior at junctions in the multiple t-maze. In multiple t-maze trials, the turning bias of a population can be compensated for through the use of two separate mazes. The mazes should be identical except for the initial forced turn that an individual must make; either a forced right or left turn.

Hyla versicolor

H. versicolor, also known as the northern gray treefrog, is a species that is native to a broad swath of North America ranging from southern Quebec to regions of eastern Texas (Dodd,

2013). *H. versicolor* prefers forest habitat and doesn't range far from breeding ponds. Typical breeding and larvae habitat includes temporary and permanent wetland that is adjacent to woodlands. Breeding activity typically occurs from spring to early summer. They have clutch sizes that range from 1,000 to 2,600. Developmentally, *H. versicolor* tadpoles take up to 60 days to reach metamorphosis under laboratory conditions but up to 20 days less (40-60 days) in natural conditions. *H. versicolor* diet consists mostly of insects such as beetles, crickets, moths, roaches, true bugs, and spiders. Common predators include spiders (predate upon juveniles), birds, garter snakes, water snakes, American bullfrogs, and meso-mammals (Dodd, 2013).

H. versicolor have a lower salinity tolerance than other amphibian species. In choice trials for salinity aversion, adult *H. versicolor* showed aversion for salinity at an EC₅₀ threshold, the threshold for half of the individuals to show aversion, of 0.155 M NaCl (Jamieson, 2012). This threshold is lower than reported thresholds for other amphibian species including leopard frogs, *Rana pipiens* (EC₅₀ = 0.40 M), green frogs, *Rana clamitans melanota* (EC₅₀ = 0.417 M), and eastern newts, *Notophthalmus viridescens* (EC₅₀ = 0.205 M) (Gonzalez-Abreu, 2011; Jamieson, 2012; Koelmel, 2011; Kwasek, 2011). Road salts have explicitly been linked to reduced survival of *H. versicolor* embryos in stormwater ponds (Brand et al., 2010).

While *H. versicolor* are listed as a species of least concern, they are still affected by pollution and habitat degradation resulting from the increasing use of road salts (New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection, 2021). Additionally, other species of amphibians such as the New Jersey native Southern Gray Treefrogs, *Hyla chrysoscelis*, are endangered in the state (New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection, 2021). Understanding this aspect of amphibian behavior can help conservation managers to better predict amphibian behavioral changes in response to changes in salinity of vital vernal pool habitat.

Purpose of the Study

Studies of behavior in conjunction with studies of physiology can aid conservation strategies for amphibians (Walls and Gabor, 2019). This enables researchers to parse the complexity of amphibian population declines and their underlying causal factors. The purpose of this study is to determine how amphibian behavior will be impacted at varying salt concentrations. Specifically this study examines how alternating turn behavior, exhibited in foraging, exploration, and anti-predator responses, is affected in a population of *H. versicolor* tadpoles. The New Jersey native *H. versicolor* serves as an indicator species for ecological monitoring. It alsos is closely related to and shares habitat with the New Jersey endangered, *H. chrysoscelis* (Estes-Zumpf et al., 2022; New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection, 2021). This study of amphibian behavior improves our understanding of behavioral responses to salinity and can inform conservation efforts. The purpose of this study is to determine:

- To what degree is there motor lateralization in the population of *H. versicolor* tadpoles demonstrated by turning bias in a t-maze,
- 2) To what degree will *H. versicolor* tadpoles exhibit alternate turning behaviors when in a multiple t-maze, and
- To what degree will salinity, at environmentally relevant concentrations, affect those alternate turning behaviors.

It is hypothesized that amphibian tadpoles will demonstrate increased alternating turn behavior when introduced to the elevated salt concentrations. Increased alternating turns behavior in response to a chemical stimulus would be consistent with avoidance and escape behaviors demonstrated by amphibians (Carbines et al., 1992; Moriyama et al., 2015) and other animals (Hughes, 1967; Paradis, 2020).

There are reasons to suspect that alternating turn behavior will decrease as salinity increases. Both salinity and predator cue exposure can lead to reduced motor activity in amphibian tadpoles (Babbitt and Tanner, 1998; Lawler, 1989). Less motor activity could reduce the amount of alternating turn behavior that tadpoles exhibit at higher salt concentrations. This alternative explanation is not hypothesized due to the fact that this experiment will assess a brief acute exposure to salinity. Reduced motor activity is more so associated with prolonged exposure to elevated salinity and a physiological response (Babbitt and Tanner, 1998; Lawler, 1989).

Methods

Field Collection and Care

H. versicolor tadpoles were collected from a residential swimming pool cover in West Milford, Passaic County, New Jersey during the spring of 2021. The approximately 800 tadpoles were collected in one 19 L bucket. The tadpoles were then divided evenly and kept in six separate 19 L buckets filled with dechlorinated tap water (18.9-21.1°C) in an animal holding room at Montclair State University. Partial water changes with additional dechlorinated tap were completed two to four times a week. Tadpoles were fed crumbled Hikari® Tropical Algae Wafers (Kyorin Co., Ltd., Japan) on a biweekly basis. During the trials the tadpoles' developmental stages ranged between Gosner 26 and Gosner 38 over eight consecutive days (Figure 3; Gosner, 1960).

Figure 3. Tadpole Gosner Developmental Stages



Note. This tadpole was at the developmental stage Gosner 38 during the experimental trials. The *H. versicolor* tadpoles used in the multiple t-maze trials were all within developmental stages ranging from when their hindlimbs were beginning to develop at Gosner 26 to the development of the metatarsal tubercle at Gosner 38 (Gosner, 1960).

T-Maze Trials

T-maze trials were conducted to determine the potential lateralized turning bias of the tadpole population. A t-maze was carved into a 2.5 cm thick extruded polystyrene (XPS) panel using an electric hot foam wire cutter. XPS was chosen for the maze because it is not water absorbent. The first channel, 1 cm deep and 1 cm wide, was 10 cm long and perpendicular to a second 10 cm channel that is perpendicular to the first channel. The maze was filled with dechlorinated tap water at room temperature. Tadpoles (N = 50) were introduced into the first channel of the t-maze and allowed to swim until they reached the t-junction, where they turned either right or left. The t-maze was rotated on the benchtop by 180° so that it faced towards or away from the researcher. This allowed for statistical testing to rule out potential bias that may be caused by either the position of the researcher in front of the bench or some other unforeseen confounding aspect of the lab environment (e.g. lighting, ambient noise).

Multiple T-Maze Design and Development

The multiple t-mazes (Figure 4) were designed on the online 3D design platform, TINKERCAD (© 2022 Autodesk, Inc.), based on the multiple t-maze used by Hughes (1967) and Paradis (2020). The multiple t-maze design was carved into a 2.5 cm thick XPS panel using an electric hot foam wire cutter. The maze channels are approximately 1 cm deep and 1 cm wide, and pathways are 10 cm long. The generic design can be scaled for trials with larger or smaller sized specimens. The channel width and depth for gray tree frog tadpoles was determined through trial and error. An appropriately sized multiple t-maze and single t-maze allowed enough room for an individual to travel forward and around turns but was small enough that an individual was less likely to be able to turn around 180° and go in the opposite direction (make a u-turn).





Note. Scalable multiple t-maze 3D design constructed using TINKERCAD (© 2022 Autodesk, Inc.) derived from (right) the multiple t-maze used by Hughes (1967) and Paradis (2020).

The multiple t-maze contained three sequential t-junctions where an individual can turn left or right. An individual begins in the center of the maze and can travel to one of eight endpoints (Figure 4). For example, an individual may start with a forced right turn and continue to turn right at each of the subsequent three t-junctions, which would result in zero alternating turns. As another example, if an individual makes an initial right turn but then turns left at the first t-junction that would represent one alternating turn. From the start of the maze to one of eight endpoints, zero alternating turns (one possible endpoint), one alternating turn (three possible endpoints), two alternating turns (three possible endpoints), or three alternating turns (one possible endpoint) could be completed (Figure 2).

Maze Types and Orientations

Two mazes were used for the trials that are identical but mirror each other (Figure 5). The separate mazes either start the tadpole with an initial forced left turn or an initial forced right turn; otherwise the dimensions of the mazes are identical. This is meant to control for possible lateralized biases present in the population of tadpoles.



Figure 5. Forced Right and Left Turn Maze Types

Note. Multiple t-maze XPS panels with 1 cm x 1 cm x 10 cm channels that allow for a tadpole to make either an initial forced right turn or initial forced left turn.

Additionally, the mazes are marked "F" and "B" on the top and bottom so that they may be rotated on the benchtop by 180° into a forwards "F" or backwards "B" orientation that faces towards or away from the researcher (Figure 3). This allows for statistical testing to rule out potential bias that may be caused by either the position of the researcher in front of the bench or some other unforeseen confounding aspect of the lab environment (e.g. lighting, ambient noise).

Multiple T-Maze Trials

For each trial, the orientation and forced turn (maze type) were randomly assigned by coin toss. 50 mL of solution was added to the maze using a graduated cylinder. Salinity was assigned sequentially starting with 0.0 M then 0.1 M, 0.15 M, and 0.20 M NaCl. Tadpoles were used in a single trial at the randomly assigned orientation and maze type and at the sequentially assigned salinity. Once tadpoles completed a trial they were set aside in a labeled 19 L bucket.

Tadpoles (N = 468) were taken from one of six holding buckets using a turkey baster, and were placed into the center channel (Figure 6). The tadpoles were blocked from advancing into the maze for approximately five seconds by a 7 mm stainless steel spatula held at the end of the first channel before the tool was removed and the timer began (Figure 6). The intention of this initial gating period with a spatula is to allow for the tadpole to acclimate to the solution after being placed in the maze. This gating also reduces the possibility of a startle response that is caused purely by being transported to and placed into the maze. The largest tadpoles were chosen on initial days in an effort to capture tadpoles at roughly similar Gosner developmental stages as on later days smaller tadpoles would be further developed. Trials ended when a tadpole reached a maze end point, or after five minutes maximum. This time limit was chosen to limit how long tadpoles would spend in a hypertonic environment. Between each trial, the maze, spatula, graduated cylinder and turkey baster were thoroughly rinsed with tap water.

Figure 6. Multiple T-Maze Trial Setup and Tools



Note. A turkey baster was used to transport the tadpole from a holding bucket to the start channel of the multiple t-maze. The spatula is held at the end of the start channel for a five second count before being removed from the maze and the trial timer started.

Data Collection

Before trials, date, time, lab temperature, lab humidity, bucket water temperature, and prior salt exposure from pilot studies were recorded. During each trial, latency time, which is the time that it took for a tadpole to make an initial turn after being placed in the maze and a five second gated period passed, was recorded. At the end of each trial, the endpoint, total time, and number of u-turns was recorded. A u-turn was considered to be any full 180° turn after the latency period. The tadpole body length, which was measured as the distance from the snout to the point where their tail begins, and total length were recorded. All data were entered into a google sheet spreadsheet.

These data were used to calculate the maze time (latency time subtracted from total time in maze), tail length (body length subtracted from total length), and number of alternating turns completed. From the recorded endpoints, it was determined whether tadpoles made an initial alternating turn, whether they made the first two consecutive alternating turns in a row, or whether they made any two or more alternating turns in the trial (Figure 7).



Figure 7. Turn Alternation Data Determined From Trial Endpoints

Note. Recorded endpoints per trial were used to determine whether tadpoles made an initial alternating turn (left), whether they made the first two consecutive alternating turns in a row (middle), or whether they made any two or more alternating turns in the trial (right).

Statistical Analysis

All statistical analyses were conducted using JMP® TM (SAS) Pro 14.2.0 for Microsoft Windows. The t-maze test for lateralized turning biases was analyzed using a binomial probability test and an Agresit-Coull exact test to calculate power and the generalizability of the result (Agresti and Coull, 1998).

Multiple T-Maze Behavior Analysis

Regression models were used to determine the effect of salinity, body size, forced turn, maze orientation, prior salt exposure, salinity*prior salt exposure, and salinity*body size on maze completion, alternating turns, latency time, maze time, and total time. Water temperature was excluded from the model due to the small range of recorded temperature measurements (18.9-21.1°C). Due to the deliberate selection of larger tadpoles on earlier days of the experiment, body size was correlated with date. For this reason, the date of trial completion was excluded as an explanatory variable from the model.

Maze Completion

Maze completion was defined as a tadpole reaching one of eight endpoints within five minutes. Maze completion was analyzed using a nominal logistic fit regression model to determine the effect of salinity and other factors on the likelihood of completion. The number of u-turns completed per trial was analyzed using a standard least squares fit regression model to determine the effect of salinity and other factors. If the tadpole completed the maze and did not make any u-turns ("clean trial") then that trial was included in an analysis to determine the effect of salinity and other factors. If the tadpole completed the maze and total time.

Alternating Turns

Alternating turn distributions were analyzed using a chi-square test to determine whether observed frequency distributions differed from the expected frequency distribution for making zero alternating turns (one possible endpoint), one alternating turn (three possible endpoints), two alternating turns (three possible endpoints), or three alternating turns (one possible endpoint). Assuming an equal chance of making a right or left turn at each maze junction, the expected distribution is 1:3:3:1 respectively. A logistic fit regression model of observed alternating turn distributions was used to determine whether there was a significant difference in the observed alternating turn distributions at different salinities. An ordinal logistic fit model was used to determine the effect of salinity and other factors on alternating turn behavior. Logistic fit regression models were also used to determine the effect of salinity on first turn alternation, first two consecutive turn alternations and any two turn alternations.

Expectations

Random turning behavior would give tadpoles a 12.5% chance of reaching any of the eight possible endpoints in the multiple t-maze (Figure 4). It was predicted that *H. versicolor* tadpoles would move randomly as they completed the maze at 0.0 M NaCl and then would make an increasing number of alternating turns at each of the three higher NaCl concentrations from 0.1 M - 0.20 M. Alternating turns when faced with these chemical stimuli would be consistent with escape behaviors demonstrated by amphibians (Carbines et al., 1992; Moriyama et al., 2015) and other animals (Hughes, 1967; Paradis, 2020). Many amphibian species exhibit innate turning behaviors to avoid predators (Rogers and Andrews, 2002). Directional locomotion characterized by alternating turns is a common escape mechanism in amphibians (Brown and Taylor 1995; Domenici et al. 2011).

Maze Time, Latency Time, and Total Time

Maze time, latency time, and total time distributions were tested for normality and subsequently transformed using a sinh-arcsinh transformation. Fit least squares regression

models were used to determine the effect of salinity and other factors on maze time, latency time, and total time.

Pilot Studies and Prior Salt Exposure

All tadpoles were used in prior multiple t-maze trials. Prior to 6/30/2021, more than 50 tadpoles were used in separate multiple t-maze trials to test the maze design and to develop the experimental methodology. From 6/30-7/1 2021, 101 multiple t-maze trials were run at 0.0 M and 0.1 M NaCl concentrations. From 7/6-7/7 2021 101 multiple t-maze trials were run at 0.0 M, 0.1 M and 0.15 M NaCl concentrations. Finally on 7/14 and 7/17-7/18 2021 102 multiple t-maze trials were run at 0.0 M and 0.1 M NaCl concentrations. Finally on 7/14 and 7/17-7/18 2021 102 multiple t-maze trials were run at 0.0 M and 0.1 M NaCl concentrations. These trials lasted no longer than five minutes before tadpoles were removed from the maze.

Throughout the multiple t-maze development and earlier experiments, tadpoles that were used in a multiple t-maze were set aside in separately labeled holding buckets. There were labeled buckets for tadpoles with prior salt exposure and separate buckets for trial-run tadpoles that did not have prior salt exposure. All of these tadpoles were re-run in the final multiple t-maze experiment, running from 7/24-7/31 2021. It was noted during each trial whether the tadpole in the trial did or did not have prior salt exposure. The quickest a tadpole was reintroduced to the multiple t-maze with any concentration of NaCl was six days. The longest period of time between reintroduction to the multiple t-maze with any concentration of NaCl was approximately 32 days. Because exposure was limited to five minutes and at least six days passed between reintroductions, there was not an expectation that prior salt exposure would alter tadpole behavior in the multiple t-maze trials.

Results

Lateralized Turning Behavior in a T-Maze

In 50 trials at 0.0 M salinity, there were 22 (44%) tadpoles that turned left in the t-maze and 28 (56%) that turned right in the t-maze. A binomial test analysis showed that at the population level there was no significant difference between left and right turn preference (p =0.839) but an exact Agresti-Coull test of the observed vs expected proportion (N = 50) yielded low power (*power* = 0.163) for this result (Agresti and Coull, 1998). So while no statistically significant lateralized turning bias was revealed in this initial experiment, the small sample size warrants caution in generalizing about the existence of an overall lateralized bias of the tadpole population. Potential lateralized turning biases were accounted for by randomly selecting among the forced right and left turn maze types for each trial in our subsequent multiple t-maze experiment. These two maze types mirror one another: one forces tadpoles to make an initial left turn while the other forces tadpoles into an initial right turn.

Body Size

Body size (N = 461) was not normally distributed (W = 0.945, p < 0.001) but closely resembled a normal distribution (M = 1.222, SD = 0.136). The data is slightly skewed to the left (*skewness* = -0.055, *variance* = 0.019, *kurtosis* = -0.346) and there were no outliers in the distribution.

Seven tadpoles (of 468) were excluded from analysis based on body size exclusion criteria. The tadpoles excluded had short tail lengths relative to their body length. Short tail lengths resulted either from damage or developmental abnormalities. This could affect swimming ability and other behavior in the multiple t-maze. The criteria for body size exclusion

was determined by running a bivariate fit plot of tail length by body length and excluding those data points that fell outside of a bivariate normal density ellipse (p = 0.990). All seven of the data points outside of the density ellipse possessed abnormally short tail lengths relative to body length. This allowed body length to be used as the definitive variable for body size.

All statistical analyses were completed with the seven data points excluded for the described body size criteria and without those data excluded. The results were consistent regardless of whether several data points were excluded based on body size exclusion criteria for nearly all analyses. Only maze time was not consistent if several data points were not excluded based on body size exclusion criteria. With no data points excluded, there was not a significant effect of prior salt exposure on maze time while with those data excluded there was a significant effect.

Multiple T-Maze Maze Completion

In 461 trials, there were 368 tadpoles that completed the maze and 93 tadpoles that did not complete the maze. A nominal logistic fit regression model showed that salinity had a significant effect on maze completion (Table 1). As salinity increased, maze completion rates increased (Figure 8). There were also significant effects identified for body size and prior salt exposure. As body size increased, maze completion rates increased. Tadpoles that had prior salt exposure were significantly less likely to complete the maze (Figure 9). Maze type, maze orientation, salinity*prior salt exposure, and salinity*body size did not have a significant effect on maze completion.

		N = 461	
Variable	df	L - $R X^2$	р
Salinity	1	11.833	0.001*
Body Size	1	12.717	0.001*
Maze Type	1	1.521	0.218
Maze Orientation	1	2.468	0.116
Prior Salt Exposure	1	4.118	0.042*
Salinity*Prior Salt Exposure	1	0.904	0.342
Salinity*Body Size	1	0.004	0.953

 Table 1. Nominal Logistic Fit Regression Model of Maze Completion

Note. Significant at the p < 0.05 level. $R^2(U) = 0.077$

Figure 8. Maze Completion Rates at Tested Salinities



Note. As salinity increased, maze completion rates increased. The maze completion rates ranged from 70% at 0.0 M (far left) NaCl to 89% at 2.0 M NaCl (far right).





Note. Tadpoles that had prior salt exposure were significantly less likely to complete the maze. The maze completion rate for tadpoles without prior salt exposure was 84% (left) while the maze completion rate for tadpoles with prior salt exposure was 74% (right).

U-Turns in a Multiple T-Maze

In 461 total trials, there were 41 tadpoles that performed u-turns in the multiple t-maze. A standard least squares fit regression model of u-turns showed that there was no significant effect of salinity, body size, maze type , maze orientation, prior salt exposure, salinity*prior salt exposure, or salinity*body length (Table 2). There was however a trend of u-turn behavior increasing as salinity increased (Figure 10).





Note. There was a trend of u-turn behavior increasing as salinity increased. The mean number of u-turns was 0.085 (SD = 0.447) at 0.0 M NaCl, 0.120 (SD = 0.575) at 0.1 M NaCl, 0.120 (SD = 0.646) at 0.15 M NaCl and 0.171 (SD = 0.479) at 0.2 M NaCl.

	N = 461			
Variable	df	Sum of Squares	F Ratio	р
Salinity	1	0.563	1.882	0.171
Body Size	1	0.036	0.122	0.727
Maze Type	1	0.084	0.280	0.597
Maze Orientation	1	0.467	1.560	0.212
Prior Salt Exposure	1	0.040	0.133	0.715
Salinity*Prior Salt Exposure	1	0.024	0.079	0.779
Salinity*Body Size	1	0.729	2.436	0.119

Table 2. Standard Least Squares Fit Regression Model of U-Turns

Note. * indicates p < 0.05. ** indicates p < 0.01. $R^2 = 0.015$.

Alternating Turn Behavior in a Multiple T-Maze

There were 337 trials out of 468 total trials included in this data analysis. In these trials, tadpoles completed the maze within five minutes by reaching an endpoint and they did not make any u-turns in that time. A chi-squared analysis of these trials revealed that the observed distributions of the frequencies of alternating turns at each trial condition (0.0-0.2 M NaCl) significantly differed from the expected random distribution of frequencies of 1:3:3:1 (Table 3). The observed frequencies of alternating turn behavior showed that for all salinities tested (0.0 M, 0.1 M, 0.15 M, and 0.2 M) there was a high prevalence of alternating turn behavior in a multiple t-maze. The alternating turn outcome with the highest probability at every salinity except for 0.0M salinity was the maximum alternating turns that could be completed, three (Figure 11).

		N = 337			
		Likelih	ood Ratio	Pea	rson
Salinity (M NaCl)	df	X^2	р	X^2	р
0.0	3	28.227	<.0001**	34.684	<.0001**
0.1	3	40.409	<.0001**	53.420	<.0001**
0.15	3	46.607	<.0001**	58.379	<.0001**
0.2	3	39.191	< .0001**	53.381	<.0001**

Table 3. Chi-Squared Analysis of Alternating Turn Distributions

Note. * indicates p < 0.05. ** indicates p < 0.01.

Figure 11. Observed vs Expected Frequency Distributions of Alternating Turns



Note. The observed distributions of the frequencies of alternating turns at each salinity ranging for 0.0 M to 2.0 M (left) significantly differed from the expected random distribution of frequencies (right). There was an increase in alternating turn behavior at every salinity.

Salinity and Alternating Turn Behavior

A logistic fit regression model of observed alternating turn distributions showed that there was not a significant difference ($R^2 = 0.001$, $X_1^2 = 0.104$, p = 0.748) in the observed alternating turn distributions at different salinities. This is contrary to the prediction that alternating turn behavior would increase as salinity increases.

An ordinal logistic fit model of alternating turns showed that salinity, body size, maze type, maze orientation, salinity*prior salt exposure, and salinity*body size did not have a significant effect on alternating turn behavior (Table 4). Prior salt exposure did have a significant effect on alternating turn behavior. Tadpoles used in prior experiments ranging from 5-30 days before the start of this experiment (M = 1.904, SD = 0.939) were less likely to exhibit alternating turn behavior when placed in the multiple t-maze than tadpoles without prior salt exposure (M = 2.140, SD = 0.879) (Figure 12).

		N = 337	
Variable	df	L - $R X^2$	р
Salinity	1	0.151	0.697
Body Size	1	3.521	0.061
Maze Type	1	2.108	0.147
Maze Orientation	1	0.116	0.734
Prior Salt Exposure	1	4.902	0.027*
Salinity*Prior Salt Exposure	1	1.009	0.315
Salinity*Body Size	1	0.364	0.546

Table 4. Ordinal Logistic Fit Regression Model of Alternating Turns

Note. * indicates p < 0.05. ** indicates p < 0.01. $R^2(U) = 0.015$





Note. Tadpoles used in prior experiments (M = 1.904, SD = 0.939) were less likely to exhibit alternating turn behavior when placed in the multiple t-maze than tadpoles without prior salt exposure (M = 2.140, SD = 0.879)

Other Alternating Turn Behaviors

A nominal logistic fit regression model showed that there was a significant effect of maze type and maze orientation on first turn alternation (Table 5). There was no significant effect of salinity, body size, prior salt exposure, salinity*prior salt exposure or salinity*body size on first turn alternation. A nominal logistic fit regression model showed that there was a significant effect of body size on any two turn alternations (Table 6). There was no significant effect of salinity, maze type, maze orientation, prior salt exposure, salinity*prior salt exposure or salinity*body size on any two turn alternations in a row. A nominal logistic fit regression model showed that there was a significant effect of body size on the first two turn alternations in a row (Table 7). There was no significant effect of salinity, maze type, maze orientation, prior salt exposure, salinity*prior salt exposure or salinity*body size on the first two turn alternations in a row.

		N = 337	
Variable	df	L - $R X^2$	р
Salinity	1	0.826	0.363
Body Size	1	0.298	0.585
Maze Type	1	4.261	0.039*
Maze Orientation	1	6.513	0.011*
Prior Salt Exposure	1	0.864	0.352
Salinity*Prior Salt Exposure	1	1.613	0.202
Salinity*Body Size	1	0.450	0.502

 Table 5. Nominal Logistic Fit Regression Model of First Turn Alternation

Note. * indicates p < 0.05. ** indicates p < 0.01.

		N = 337	
	df	L - $R X^2$	р
Salinity	1	0.208	0.648
Body Size	1	8.567	0.003**
Maze Type	1	0.871	0.351
Maze Orientation	1	1.239	0.266
Prior Salt Exposure	1	1.411	0.235
Salinity*Prior Salt Exposure	1	1.353	0.245
Salinity*Body Size	1	0.614	0.433

Table 6. Nominal Logistic Fit Regression Model of Any Two Turn Alternations

Note. * indicates p < 0.05. ** indicates p < 0.01.

		N = 337	
Variable	df	L - $R X^2$	р
Salinity	1	1.487	0.223
Body Size	1	8.417	0.004**
Maze Type	1	3.348	0.067
Maze Orientation	1	0.220	0.639
Prior Salt Exposure	1	0.269	0.604
Salinity*Prior Salt Exposure	1	1.381	0.240
Salinity*Body Size	1	0.575	0.448

Table 7. Nominal Logistic Fit Regression Model of First Two Turn Alternations in a Row

Note. * indicates p < .05. ** indicates p < .01.

Latency Time

Latency time is the time from when tadpoles are placed in the maze and are ungated to when they make the initial forced turn in the multiple t-maze. A fit least squares regression model, with arcsine transformed latency time, showed that salinity, body size, and maze type had a significant effect on latency time (Table 8). As salinity increased, latency time decreased (Figure 13). As body size increased, latency time increased (Figure 14). Maze orientation, prior salt exposure, salinity*prior salt exposure, and salinity*body size did not have a significant effect on latency time.

	N = 337			
Variable	df	Sum of Squares	F Ratio	р
Salinity	1	5.931	5.901	0.016**
Body Size	1	15.182	15.106	0.001**
Maze Type	1	5.664	5.635	0.018**
Maze Orientation	1	2.976	2.961	0.086
Prior Salt Exposure	1	1.685	1.676	0.196
Salinity*Prior Salt Exposure	1	1.285	1.279	0.259
Salinity*Body Size	1	0.002	0.002	0.963

Table 8. Fit Least Squares Regression Model of Latency Time

Note. * indicates p < 0.05. ** indicates p < 0.01. $R^2 = 0.085$.



Figure 13. Latency Time, Maze Time and Total Time by Salinity

Note. As salinity increased, latency time, maze time, and total time all decreased.



Figure 14. Latency Time, Maze Time and Total Time by Body Size

Note. As body size increased, latency time, maze time, and total time all increased.

Latency Time and Lateralization

The latency time for the forced right turn, original maze, was shorter than the latency time for the forced left turn, mirrored maze (Figure 15). This is consistent with the non-significant trend of right turn lateralized bias (28R/22L) seen in the initial t-trials experiment. While no significance was originally observed when an exact Agresti-Coull test of the proportion at N = 50 was completed it yielded low power (*power* = 0.163) and could not be used to generalize about lateralized turning biases of the population.



Figure 15. Lateralized Turning Frequency in a T-Maze and Latency Time by Maze Type.

Note. At 0.0 M NaCl, there were 22 (44%) tadpoles that turned left in the t-maze and 28 (56%) that turned right in the t-maze (left). The latency time for the forced right turn maze (M = 55.901, SD = 59.303), was shorter than the latency time for the forced left turn maze (M = 46.251, SD = 55.975) (right).

Maze Time

A fit least squares regression model, of arcsine transformed maze time, showed that salinity and body size had a significant effect on maze time (Table 9). As salinity increased, maze time decreased (Figure 13). As body size increased, maze time increased (Figure 14). Prior salt exposure, maze type, and maze orientation did not have a significant effect on maze time.

	N = 337			
Variable	df	Sum of Squares	F Ratio	р
Salinity	1	9650.820	4.583	0.033*
Body Size	1	13892.548	6.597	0.011*
Maze Type	1	2340.550	1.111	0.293
Maze Orientation	1	67.937	0.032	0.858
Prior Salt Exposure	1	8630.596	4.098	0.044*
Salinity*Prior Salt Exposure	1	217.927	0.104	0.748
Salinity*Body Size	1	6067.282	2.885	0.090

Table 9. Fit Least Squares Regression Model of Maze Time

Note. * indicates p < 0.05. ** indicates p < 0.01. $R^2 = 0.055$.

Total Time

A fit least squares regression model, with arcsine transformed total time, showed that salinity, body size, and maze type had a significant effect on total time (Table 10). As salinity increased, total time decreased (Figure 13). As body size increased, total time decreased (Figure 14). As seen for the latency time results, the total time for the forced right turn maze (M = 90.549, SD = 77.093, was shorter than the total time for the forced left turn maze (M = 106.164, SD = 83.834. Maze orientation, prior salt exposure, salinity*prior salt exposure, and salinity*body size did not have a significant effect on total time. These results were consistent regardless of whether several data points were excluded based on body size exclusion criteria.

	N = 337			
Variable	df	Sum of Squares	F Ratio	р
Salinity	1	9.202	9.277	0.003**
Body Size	1	17.152	17.292	< 0.001**
Maze Type	1	5.346	5.390	0.021*
Maze Orientation	1	0.415	0.418	0.518
Prior Salt Exposure	1	0.000	0.000	0.999
Salinity*Prior Salt Exposure	1	0.743	0.749	0.388
Salinity*Body Size	1	0.262	0.264	0.607

Table 10. Fit Least Squares Regression Model of Total Time

Note. * indicates p < 0.05. ** indicates p < 0.01. $R^2 = 0.086$.

Discussion

Lateralization

In single T-maze trials, there was no significant lateralized bias in tadpole turning despite a small trend of rightward turns. A power analysis determined that this result had low power at N= 50. Other studies that examined lateralized biases in amphibians identified turning biases beginning at Gosner stage 25 which is in line with the developmental range of our tadpole population; Gosner stage 26-38 (Gosner, 1960; Malashichev and Robins, 2018). Previous studies examined lateralized behaviors in different ways. These ways included looking at jumping direction in response to predator cues, righting behavior when flipped over, and wiping their snouts (Malashichev, 2006; Malashichev and Nikitina, 2002). Specifically for tadpoles, researchers have examined their startle response to determine lateralized biases (Malashichev and Robins, 2018). A combination of other bias tests with t-maze trials could improve detection of lateralization.

Initial forced turn direction had a significant effect on latency in our trials. In the forced right turn maze latency time was less than in the forced left turn maze. There was also a significant effect on first turn alternation. Tadpoles in the forced right turn maze were more likely to make an alternating turn at the first t-junction. They were also more likely to make two or more alternating turns in the maze. This could be explained by a rightward lateralized bias in the population of tadpoles studied. The sample size of the t-maze experiment (N = 50) could have limited our ability to pick up on subtle effects; the effects of initial forced turn direction (N = 337) suggest that a lateralized motor bias exists but was not detected by our t-maze trials due to low statistical power.

Alternating Turn Behavior

Alternating turn behavior in the multiple t-maze was observed at each salinity. This behavior in a complex maze environment is consistent with prior research that describes alternating turns as an innate behavior (Carbines et al., 1992, Hughes, 1967; Moriyama et al., 2015). Alternating turns have been associated with exploration and foraging when animals are introduced to complex environments (Estes and Schoeffler, 1955). Yet elevated salinity, even as high as 0.2 M NaCl, did not have a significant effect on alternating turn behavior (Table 11). Alternating turn behavior did not increase as hypothesized. Rather, at each trial condition there was observed alternating turn behavior regardless of salt concentration.

Table 11. Summary	y of Chi-Sq	uared Analysis
-------------------	-------------	----------------

Performance Variable	N	Effect
Lateralization	50	<i>ns</i> (low power) $(L\downarrow, R\uparrow$ trend)
Alternating Turn Distributions Observed vs Expected	337	1
Alternating Turn Distributions by Salinity	337	ns

Note. ns indicates that there is not a statistically significant effect. \uparrow indicates significance at *p* < .05 and an increase in the performance variable caused by an increase in the effect variable. \downarrow indicates significance at *p* < .05 and a decrease in the performance variable caused by an increase in the effect variable. L and R refer to forced left and forced right turn maze types respectively.

Salinity

Adult *H. versicolor* have demonstrated aversion for salinity at an EC₅₀ threshold of 0.155 M (Jamieson, 2012). The salt concentrations used in this experiment exceeded the threshold of *H. versicolor* tadpoles. In short-term acute exposure to elevated salt concentrations caused by road salt runoff pollution, it would be expected that similar avoidance behaviors would be exhibited by *H. versicolor* tadpoles.

While salinity did not increase alternating turn behavior, salinity did impact other tadpole behaviors (Table 12). At elevated salinities, there was more maze completion. This result was observed in conjunction with lower latency time, maze time and total time at elevated salt concentrations. Tadpoles swam faster in the and were more likely to reach an endpoint in the maze at higher salt concentrations. This suggests that they were less likely to pause at the decision-making t-junctions when salinity increased. Tadpoles were more likely to make u-turns at higher salt concentrations, while still completing the maze more frequently and quickly. Faster swimming tadpoles may have been more likely to attempt to change direction and make a u-turn.

The alternating turn behavior and faster swimming are evidence of avoidance and escape behaviors (Carbines et al., 1992; Moriyama et al., 2015). Turn alternation allowed tadpoles to quickly move in a straight direction after encountering an adverse stimulus.

		Effect Variables				
Performance Variable	N	Salinity	Body Size	Maze Type	Maze Orientation	Prior Salt Exposure
Maze Completion	461	↑	↑	ns	ns	\downarrow
U-Turns	461	ns (↑ trend)	ns	ns	ns	ns
Alternating Turns	337	ns	ns	ns	ns	\downarrow
1st Turn Alternation	337	ns	ns	L↓, R↑	F↓, B↑	ns
1st Two Turn Alternation	337	ns	Ť	ns	ns	ns
Any Two Turn Alterations in a Row	337	ns	ns	L↓, R↑	F↑, B↓	ns
Latency Time	337	\downarrow	↑	L \uparrow , R \downarrow	ns	ns
Maze Time	337	\downarrow	↑	ns	ns	\uparrow
Total Time	337	\downarrow	↑	L \uparrow , R \downarrow	ns	ns

Table 12. Summary of Regression Model Effects

Note. ns indicates that there is not a statistically significant effect. \uparrow indicates significance at *p* < 0.05 and an increase in the performance variable caused by an increase in the effect variable. \downarrow indicates significance at *p* < 0.05 and a decrease in the performance variable caused by an increase in the effect variable. L and R refer to forced left and forced right turn maze types respectively. F and B refer to the forwards and backwards maze orientations respectively.

Prior Salt Exposure

Prior salt exposure significantly reduced the frequency of alternating turns and reduced the rate of maze completion. Tadpoles identified as having prior salt exposure were each previously used in a multiple t-maze trial at 0.1 M or 0.15 M NaCl 6-25 days before this

experiment began. It is possible that there was a small degree of learning among the tadpoles after completing the maze once. This is unlikely because there was no reinforcement or reward for this behavior. If learning did occur, it would be expected that tadpoles would complete the maze quicker to be removed from the unfavorable conditions of the salty maze. It is also possible that there were physiological or developmental effects from the earlier exposure. Cumulative exposure to salinity has been shown to reduce activity levels (Denoël et al., 2010; Kearney et al., 2016; Milotic et al., 2017; Sanzo and Hecnar, 2006). These possibilities are unlikely considering that this was a brief (five minute maximum), non-repeated exposure. There also was a six day (which stretched all the way to 32 days for some tadpoles) wait period before reintroduction. Another possibility for these results was that there may have been an unforeseen variable related to the tadpole holding container storage that biased this group of tadpoles. Further studies are needed to establish how this brief prior salt exposure changed tadpole behavior in the multiple t-maze.

Body Size

Body size had a significant effect on maze completion rate, latency time, maze time, and total time. Maze completion increased as body size increased and all three time measurements increased as body size increased. It is assumed that the population of 800 tadpoles initially collected for this study were all from a single clutch of eggs. Clutch sizes of *H. versicolor* range from 1,000 to 2,600 (Dodd 2013). That would mean that the tadpoles were all at the same age but growing and developing at different rates. Larger tadpoles were likely growing and developing at a faster rate than other smaller body size tadpoles of the population. The faster rate of growth and stress of metamorphosis may have reduced their ability to swim. An alternative

explanation is that the channels of the maze, which were intentionally designed to be narrow to prevent u-turns, could have restricted the larger tadpoles and reduced their swimming ability. Less u-turns completed by the larger tadpoles would also explain the higher rate of maze completion. Further studies are needed to clarify how body size changed tadpole behavior in the multiple t-maze.

Experimental Design

Maze orientation had an effect on first turn alternation. There was less first turn alternation when the maze was in the forwards orientation where the tadpole first forced turn is in the direction of the researcher. The position of the researcher at the end of the bench near the maze could have been a visual cue. This may have biased the initial alternating turn. Maze orientation also had an effect on whether a tadpole made any two alternating turns. There were more alternating turns when the maze was in a backwards direction. This could be due to an unforeseen confounding aspect of the lab environment (e.g. lighting, ambient noise). To reduce the potential biases of the maze orientation that had an effect on first turn alternation and two or more alternating turns, future studies with a similar multiple t-maze protocol could use randomized quarter turns.

Chemical cues could have been left behind in the maze by the researcher or by tadpoles from preceding trials. Although the multiple t-mazes were thoroughly rinsed with tap water along with all tools between trials, certain chemical cues may have remained in the maze. While it is unclear how that may have altered tadpole behavior, it may have biased the results. Cues left by tadpoles at an endpoint could have influenced the successive trials. Cues imparted by human researchers may have been perceived as a predator cue leading to either escape or avoidance behaviors by the tadpoles.

Multiple T-Maze

Multiple t-mazes are an effective tool for observing alternating turn behavior, but it is unclear whether this maze design is effective for determining how those behaviors are affected by a chemical stimulus such as salinity. *H. versicolor* tadpoles exhibited alternating turn behaviors regardless of salinity in the multiple t-maze. If there are salinity driven differences in this behavior, multiple t-maze trials would not aid in elucidating if they may increase. Other data gathered from the maze such as completion and speed times could be collected from simpler tools. For example, a single straight channel design could be used to gauge tadpole motor responses at varying levels of salinity.

This multiple t-maze experimental protocol can be adapted to study the behavior of other species of amphibian tadpoles and aquatic organisms. Further studies could examine a wider range of *H. versicolor* tadpole developmental stages to determine if there are differences in behavior. The multiple t-maze design could also be altered to add an additional t-junction to give the possibility of an individual making a fourth alternating turn in the maze. Beyond salinity, other multiple t-maze experiments could examine the effect of other chemical stimuli such as predator cues or pesticides on alternating turn behavior.

Conclusion

Freshwater amphibian habitat is increasingly becoming salinized from road salt runoff and other pollutants (Corsi et al., 2010). At particular risk is vernal pool habitat that many amphibian species use for reproductive behaviors and larval stage development (Semlitsch, and Skelly, 2008). It is important to understand the behavioral and physiological effects that elevated salt concentrations will have on amphibians. While salinity did not affect alternating turn behavior of *H. versicolor* tadpoles, tadpoles at elevated salinities did continue to make alternating turns and move quickly to reach an endpoint. Acute salt exposure triggered avoidance and escape behaviors. This could have implications for how *H. versicolor* tadpoles in their natural habitat forage, explore and evade predators. These findings could also suggest that there may be similar effects on the closely related *H. chrysoscelis* species that is endangered in New Jersey.

Prior exposure to salinity in earlier pilot studies led to a reduction in alternating turn behavior and decreased maze completion. These findings could offer insight into the impact of longer term salt exposure on turning behavior of *H. versicolor* tadpoles. More work is needed to determine what effect prior salt exposure had on amphibian behavior in the multiple t-maze.

There could be differences in behaviors at different developmental stages. The population of tadpoles studied were within a narrow range of Gosner stage 26-38. Alternating turn behavior and other behavior in the multiple t-maze could vary by developmental stage. Additionally, only one species of amphibian was used for these trials and previous research has demonstrated that among amphibian species there is a wide range of salt tolerance (Collins and Russell, 2009). This limits the generalizability of these results for other species. Future research can explore these behaviors in other species using a similar methodology.

References

- Agresti, A. & Coull, B. A. (1998). Approximate is better than "exact" for interval estimation of binomial proportions. *The American Statistician*, *52*(2), 119-126.
- Babbitt K. J., Tanner G.W. (1998). Effects of cover and predator size on survival and development of Rana utricularia tadpoles. *Oecologia (Berlin)*. *114*(2), 258-262.
- Bisazza, A., Cantalupo, C., Capocchiano, M., & Vallortigara, G. (2000). Population lateralisation and social behaviour: a study with 16 species of fish. *Laterality*, *5*, 269-284.
- Bolis, A., Gazzola, A., Pellitteri-Rosa, D., Colombo, A., Bonfanti, P., & Bellati, A. (2020).
 Exposure during embryonic development to Roundup® Power 2.0 affects lateralization, level of activity and growth, but not defensive behaviour of marsh frog tadpoles. *Environmental Pollution*, 263(Part B).
- Brand, A. B., Snodgrass, J. W., Gallagher, M. T., Casey, R. E., & Van Meter, R. (2010). Lethal and Sublethal Effects of Embryonic and Larval Exposure of *Hyla versicolor* to Stormwater Pond Sediments. *Archives of Environmental Contamination & Toxicology*, 58(2), 325–331.
- Briggs, G. V. S., & Gonzalez, S. C. (2016). Lateralized turning biases in two neotropical tadpoles. *Ethology*, 122(7), 582-587.
- Brown, R. M., & Taylor, D. H. (1995). Compensatory Escape Mode Trade-Offs between Swimming Performance and Maneuvering Behavior Through Larval Ontogeny of the Wood Frog, *Rana Sylvatica. Copeia*, 1995(1), 1-7.
- Carbines, G. D., Dennis, R. M., & Jackson, R. R. (1992). Increased turn alternation by woodlice (Porcellio scaber) in response to a predatory spider, Dysdera crocata. *International Journal of Comparative Psychology*, 5(3).

- Casazza M. L., Wylie G. D., & Gregory C.J. (2000). A funnel trap modification for surface collection of aquatic amphibians and reptiles. *Herpetological Review*, *31*(2), 91-92.
- Collins, S. J., & Russell, R. W. (2009). Toxicity of road salt to Nova Scotia amphibians. *Environmental Pollution*, 157(1), 320–324.
- Corsi, S. R., Graczyk, D. J., Geis, S. W., Booth, N. L., & Richards, K. D. (2010). A fresh look at road salt: aquatic toxicity and water-quality impacts on local, regional, and national scales. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 44(19), 7376-7382.
- Corsi, S. R., De Cicco, L. A., Lutz, M. A., & Hirsch, R. M. (2015). River chloride trends in snow-affected urban watersheds: increasing concentrations outpace urban growth rate and are common among all seasons. *Science of the Total Environment, 508*, 488-497.
- Dember, W. N., & Richman, C. L. (Eds.). (1989). Spontaneous alternation behavior. Springer-Verlag Publishing.
- Denoël, M., Bichot, M., Ficetola, G. F., Delcourt, J., Ylieff, M., Kestemont, P., & Poncin, P.
 (2010). Cumulative effects of road de-icing salt on amphibian behavior. *Aquatic Toxicology*, 99(2), 275-280.
- Denoël, M., Libon, S., Kestemont, P., Brasseur, C., Focant, J.-F., & De Pauw, E. (2013). Effects of a sublethal pesticide exposure on locomotor behavior: A video-tracking analysis in larval amphibians. *Chemosphere*, *90*(3), 945–951.

Dodd, C. K. (2013). Frogs of the United States and Canada. Johns Hopkins University Press.

Domenici, P., Blagburn, J. M., & Bacon, J. P. (2011). Animal escapology I: theoretical issues and emerging trends in escape trajectories. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 214(15), 2463-2473.

- Dugan, H. A., Bartlett, S. L., Burke, S. M., Doubek, J. P., Krivak-Tetley, F. E., Skaff, N. K., Summersh, J. C., Farrell, K. J., McCullough, I. M., Morales-Williams, A. M., Roberts, D. Ouyang, Z., Scordo, F., Hanson, P. C., & Weathers, K. C. (2017). Salting our freshwater lakes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *114*(17), 4453-4458.
- Estes, W. K., & Schoeffler, M. S. (1955). Analysis of variables influencing alternation after forced trials. *Journal of Comparative and Physiological Psychology*, *48*(5), 357–362.
- Estes-Zumpf, W., Addis, B., Marsicek, B., Lee, M., Nelson, Z., & Murphy, M. (2022).
 Improving sustainability of long-term amphibian monitoring: The value of collaboration and community science for indicator species management. *Ecological Indicators, 134*, 108451.
- Fay, L., Shi, X., Huang, J., National Research Council (U.S.)., National Cooperative Highway Research Program, American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials, & United States. (2013). *Strategies to mitigate the impacts of chloride roadway deicers on the natural environment*.
- Frasnelli, E., & Vallortigara, G. (2018). Individual-level and population-level lateralization: two sides of the same coin. *Symmetry*, *10*(12), 739.
- Gambardella, C., Morgana, S., Bramini, M., Rotini, A., Manfra, L., Migliore, L., Piazza, V.,
 Garaventa, F., & Faimali, M. (2018). Ecotoxicological effects of polystyrene microbeads
 in a battery of marine organisms belonging to different trophic levels. *Marine Environmental Research*, 141, 313-321.
- Gibbons, T. C., McBryan, T. L., & Schulte, P. M. (2018). Interactive effects of salinity and temperature acclimation on gill morphology and gene expression in threespine

stickleback. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology*, 221, 55-62.

- Gonzalez-Abreu, M. (2011). Behavioral responses of American bullfrogs and northern leopard frogs to increased environmental salinity. *Montclair State University Digital Commons*.
- Gosner, K. (1960). A simplified table for staging anuran embryos and larvae with notes on identification. *Herpetologica*, *16*(3), 183-190.
- Green, D. M., Lannoo, M. J., Lesbarrères, D., & Muths, E. (2020). Amphibian population
 declines: 30 years of progress in confronting a complex problem. *Herpetologica*, 76(2), 97-100.
- Hall, E. M., Brady, S. P., Mattheus, N. M., Earley, R. L., Diamond, M., & Crespi, E. J. (2017).
 Physiological consequences of exposure to salinized roadside ponds on wood frog larvae and adults. *Biological Conservation*, 209, 98–106.
- Haramura, T. (2008). Experimental test of spawning site selection by Buergeria japonica (Anura: Rhacophoridae) in response to salinity level. *Copeia*, 2008(1), 64-67.
- Hillyard, S. D. & Willumsen, N. J. (2011). Chemosensory function of amphibian skin: integrating epithelial transport, capillary blood flow and behaviour. *Acta Physiologica*, 202, 533-548.
- Hintz, W. D., Mattes, B. M., Schuler, M. S., Jones, D. K., Stoler, A. B., Lind, L., & Relyea, R. A.
 (2017). Salinization triggers a trophic cascade in experimental freshwater communities with varying food-chain length. *Ecological Applications*, 27(3), 833-844.
- Hocking, D. J., & Semlitsch, R. D. (2007). Effects of timber harvest on breeding-site selection by gray treefrogs (Hyla versicolor). *Biological Conservation*, 138(3-4), 506-513.
- Hughes, R. N. (1967). Turn alternation in woodlice. Animal Behavior, 15, 282-286.

- Izvekov, E. I., Pavlova, V. V., Ognevaja, E. M., Nepomnyashchikh, V. A., & Malashichev, Y. B.
 (2018). Pattern of lateralized behaviors in a caudate amphibian, *Ambystoma mexicanum*.
 Russian Journal of Herpetology, 25(1), 31-42.
- Jamieson, K. (2012). Behavioral aversion of northern gray treefrog (Hyla versicolor) to road salts [Unpublished manuscript]. Biology Department, Montclair State University, Montclair, NJ.
- Jones, B., Snodgrass, J. W.,, & Ownby, D. R. (2015). Relative toxicity of NaCl and road deicing salt to developing amphibians. *Copeia*, *103*(1), 72-77.
- Karraker, N. E., Gibbs, J. P., & Vonesh, J. R. (2008). Impacts of road deicing salt on the demography of vernal pool-breeding amphibians. *Ecological Applications*, 18(3), 724-734.
- Kearney, B. D., Byrne, P. G., & Reina, R. D. (2016). Short- and long-term consequences of developmental saline stress: impacts on anuran respiration and behaviour. *Royal Society Open Science*, 3(2).
- Kelly, V. R., Cunningham, M. A., Curri, N., Findlay, S. E., & Carroll, S. M. (2018). The Distribution of Road Salt in Private Drinking Water Wells in a Southeastern New York Suburban Township. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 47(3), 445–451.
- Koelmel, E. (2011). Behavioral aversion of two ranid frogs to road deicers: does terrestriality influence sensitivity? *Montclair State University Digital Commons*.
- Kristensen, P. (1978). Effect of amiloride on chloride transport across amphibian epithelia. *The Journal of Membrane Biology*, *40*, 167-185.
- Kwasek, K. M. (2011). Behavior response of the eastern newt to road deicers. *Montclair State University Digital Commons.*

- Lawler, S. P. (1989). Behavioural responses to predators and predation risk in four species of larval anurans. *Animal Behaviour 38*, 1039-1047.
- Lawson, L. & Jackson, D. A. (2021). Salty summertime streams—road salt contaminated watersheds and estimates of the proportion of impacted species. FACETS. 6(): 317-333.
- Leeb, C., Kolbenschlag, S., Laubscher, A., Adams, E., Brühl, C. A., & Theissinger, K. (2020).
 Avoidance behavior of juvenile common toads (Bufo bufo) in response to surface contamination by different pesticides. *PLoS ONE*, *15*(11).
- Leite, T., Santos, J. M., Ferreira, M. T., Canhoto, C., & Branco, P. (2019). Does short-term salinization of freshwater alter the behaviour of the Iberian barbel (Luciobarbus bocagei, Steindachner 1864)? Science of the Total Environment, 651(Part 1), 648–655.
- Lucon-Xiccato, T., Chivers, D. P., Mitchell, M. D., & Ferrari, M. C. O. (2017). Prenatal exposure to predation affects predator recognition learning via lateralization plasticity. *Behavioral Ecology*, 28(1), 253–259.
- Malashichev, Y. B. (2002). Asymmetries in amphibians: A review of morphology and behaviour. *Laterality*, *7*(3), 197–217.
- Malashichev, Y. B. (2006). One-sided limb preference is linked to alternating-limb locomotion in anuran amphibians. *Journal of Comparative Psychology*, *120*(4), 401-410.
- Malashichev, Y. B., & Nikitina, N. G. (2002). Preferential limb use in relation to epicoracoid overlap in the shoulder girdle of toads. *Laterality*, 7(1), 1–18.
- Malashichev, Y. B., & Robins, A. (2018). Lateralized motor responses in anuran amphibians an overview of methods and perspectives of studies. *Biological Communications*, 63(4), 210–242.

- Malashichev, Y. B., & Wassersug, R. J. (2004). Left and right in the amphibian world: which way to develop and where to turn? *BioEssays*, *26*(5), 512–522.
- Mazumder, B., Wellen, C., Kaltenecker, G., Sorichetti, R. J., & Oswald, C. J. (2021). Trends and legacy of freshwater salinization: untangling over 50 years of stream chloride monitoring. *Environmental Research Letters*, 16(9), 095001.
- Milotic, D., Milotic, M., & Koprivnikar, J. (2017). Effects of road salt on larval amphibian susceptibility to parasitism through behavior and immunocompetence. *Aquatic Toxicology*, 189, 42-49.
- Moriyama, T., Migita, M., and Mitsuishi, M. (2015). Self-corrective behavior for turn alternation in pill bugs. *Behavioural Processes*. *122*, 98-103.
- New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection. *Online Field Guide for Reptiles and Amphibians*. (2021). Trenton, NJ; State of New Jersey.
- Oseen, K. L., Newhook, L. K. D., & Wassersug, R. J. (2001). Turning Bias in Woodfrog (Rana sylvatica) Tadpoles. Herpetologica, 57(4), 432–437.
- Paradis, O. (2020). Do chemical cues influence giant waterbug *Belostoma flumineum* say (Hemiptera: Belostomatidae) Turning Behavior? *Montclair State University Digital Commons*.
- Parker, D. M., & Tatum, T. C. (2021). Is the Use of Road Salt and Chemical Deicers Worth the Costs? A Call for Environmentally Sustainable Winter Road Operations. *Journal of Strategic Innovation & Sustainability*, 16(1), 139–144.
- Pieper, K. J., Tang, M., Jones, C. N., Weiss, S., Greene, A., Mohsin, H., Parks, J., & Edwards, M.
 A. (2018). Impact of Road Salt on Drinking Water Quality and Infrastructure Corrosion in Private Wells. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *52*(24), 14078–14087.

- Robins, A., Lippolis, G., Bisazza, A., Vallortigara, G., & Rogers, L. J. (1998). Lateralized agonistic responses and hindlimb use in toads. *Animal Behaviour*, *56*, 875–881.
- Rogers, L. J. (2002). Lateralised brain function in anurans: Comparison to lateralisation in other vertebrates. *Laterality*, 7(3), 219–239.
- Rogers, L. J. & Andrew, R. (Eds.). (2002) *Comparative Vertebrate Lateralization*. Cambridge University Press.
- Sanzo, D., & Hecnar, S. J. (2006). Effects of road de-icing salt (NaCl) on larval wood frogs (Rana sylvatica). *Environmental pollution*, *140*(2), 247-256.
- Semlitsch, R. D., & Skelly, D. K. (2008). Ecology and conservation of pool-breeding amphibians. Science and conservation of vernal pools in northeastern North America. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 127-148.
- Skelly, D. K. (2001). Distributions of pond-breeding anurans: an overview of mechanisms. *Israel Journal of Zoology*, 47(4), 313-332.
- Soper, J. J., Guzman, C. D., Kumpel, E., & Tobiason, J. E. (2021). Long-term analysis of road salt loading and transport in a rural drinking water reservoir watershed. *Journal of Hydrology*, 603(Part B).
- Szeligowski, R. V., Scanley, J. A., Broadbridge, C. C., & Brady, S. P. (2022). Road salt compromises functional morphology of larval gills in populations of an amphibian. *Environmental Pollution*, 292, 118441.
- Takahashi, M. (2007). Oviposition site selection: pesticide avoidance by gray treefrogs. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry: An International Journal*, *26*(7), 1476-1480.

- Thaysen, C., Stevack, K., Ruffolo, R., Poirier, D., De Frond, H., DeVera, J., Sheng, G. & Rochman, C. M. (2018). Leachate from expanded polystyrene cups is toxic to aquatic invertebrates (*Ceriodaphnia dubia*). *Frontiers in Marine Science*. 5(71).
- Tiwari, A. & Rachlin, J. W. (2018). A review of road salt ecological impacts. *Northeastern Naturalist*, *25*(1), 123-142.
- Tornabene, B. J., Breuner, C. W., & Hossack, B. R. (2021a). Comparative Effects of Energy-Related Saline Wastewaters and Sodium Chloride on Hatching, Survival, and Fitness-Associated Traits of Two Amphibian Species. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 40(11), 3137-3147.
- Tornabene, B. J., Hossack, B. R., Crespi, E. J., & Breuner, C. W. (2021b). Corticosterone mediates a growth-survival tradeoff for an amphibian exposed to increased salinity.
 Journal of Experimental Zoology Part A: Ecological and Integrative Physiology, 335(8), 703-715.
- Vonesh, J. R. & Buck, J. C. (2007). Pesticide alters oviposition site selection in gray treefrogs. Oecologia 154, 219-226.
- Walker, S. (1980). Lateralization of functions in the vertebrate brain: a review. *British Journal of Psychology*, *71*(3), 329-367.
- Walls, S. C., & Gabor, C. R. (2019). Integrating behavior and physiology into strategies for amphibian conservation. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution*, 7, 234.
- Wassersug, R. J., Naitoh, T., & Yamashita, M. (1999). Turning bias in tadpoles. *Journal of Herpetology*, 33(4), 543–548.
- Wassersug, R. J., & Yamashita, M. (2002). Assessing and interpreting lateralised behaviours in anuran larvae. *Laterality*, 7(3), 241–260.

- Wilder, A. E., & Welch, A. M. (2014). Effects of salinity and pesticide on sperm activity andOviposition site selection in green Treefrogs, Hyla cinerea. *Copeia*, 2014(4), 659-667.
- Wiper, M. L. (2017). Evolutionary and mechanistic drivers of laterality: a review and new synthesis. *Laterality 22*(6), 740-770
- Zhang, F., Wang, Z., Wang, S., Fang, H., & Wang, D. (2019). Aquatic behavior and toxicity of polystyrene nanoplastic particles with different functional groups: Complex roles of pH, dissolved organic carbon and divalent cations. *Chemosphere*, 228, 195–203.